## COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

## **BETWEEN**

# CENTRAL DISPATCH ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY

# AND INTERNATIONAL UNION OF OPERATING ENGINEERS, LOCAL 3

July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2024

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article	Description	Page
1	Preamble	. 2
2	Recognition and Application	
3	Employee Rights	. 3
4	Union Affairs	
5	Management Rights	
6	No Strike	. 5
7	Disciplinary Action	5
8	Grievance Procedure	7
9	Hours of Work, Overtime, and Records	9
10	Compensation	11
11	Shift Differential and Shift Choice	13
12	Temporary Pay	. 14
13	Seniority	. 16
14	Holidays	17
15	Annual Leave	18
16	Sick Leave	. 20
17	Leave of Absence	. 22
18	Catastrophic Health Plan	
19	Jury Duty	23
20	Military Leave	. 24
21	Work-Related Injury Leave	
22	Health and Welfare and Employee Assistance Program	
23	Retirement	. 27
24	Safety and Health	. 27
25	Business Expenses	. 28
26	Layoff and Recall	. 28
27	Probationary Period	
28	Personnel File	
29	Educational Assistance	
30	Scope of Agreement and Savings Clause	
31	Local Government Employee-Management Relations Act	
32	Duration of Agreement	
	Disciplinary Action Form	
	Exhibit A	
	Exhibit B	
	Exhibit C	36

#### **PREAMBLE**

- A. This Agreement is entered into between the Central Dispatch Administrative Authority, Elko, Nevada, hereinafter referred to as the "Authority" and the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 3, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the "Union."
- B. It is the intent and purpose of this Agreement to assure sound and mutually beneficial working and economic relationships between the parties hereto, and to provide an orderly and peaceful means of resolving any misunderstandings or differences which may arise as set forth in this Agreement.
- C. It is recognized by both the Authority and Union and the employees that the Authority is engaged in rendering routine and emergency services to the general public and that there is an obligation on each party for the continuous rendition and availability of such service.
- D. All employees shall perform loyal and efficient work and service, shall use their influence and best efforts to protect the properties of the Authority and its service to the public, and shall cooperate in promoting and advancing the welfare of the Authority and in preserving the continuity of its service to the public at all times.

#### **ARTICLE 2**

#### RECOGNITION AND APPLICATION

- A. The Authority recognizes the Union as the collective bargaining agent for all lead employees and dispatch employees, excluding the Authority administration, administrative employees, supervisor employees, seasonal employees, temporary employees, part-time employees, and confidential employees.
- B. The term "employees" or "employee" as used in this Agreement refers to bargaining unit employees regularly scheduled to work twenty (20) or more hours per week during the entire fiscal year, excluding administrative employees, supervisory employees, seasonal employees, temporary employees, part-time employees, and confidential employees.

#### **EMPLOYEE RIGHTS**

- A. The Authority and the Union will not interfere with or discriminate against an employee because of membership or non-membership in the Union, or because the employee engages in or refrains from engaging in any activity protected by Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 288.010 et seq.
- B. The union recognizes its responsibilities as the exclusive bargaining agent and agrees to represent all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion.
- C. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to all employees in the bargaining unit without any discrimination consistent with federal and Nevada law as to age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, race, color, religion, national origin, or disability. The Union shall share equally with the Authority the responsibility for applying this provision of the Agreement.
- D. Provisions of this Article shall not be subject to the dispute resolution procedures of this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 4**

#### **UNION AFFAIRS**

- A. Union representatives designated by the Union business representative may utilize annual leave or Union leave (as described in paragraph C below) for Union functions including attendance at conventions, conferences, and seminars subject to prior approval of the Director or Designee and to attend meetings with Authority management representatives on matters within the scope of collective bargaining as defined in NRS Chapter 288. Leave may be utilized in increments of one (1) hour.
- B. The Union negotiating committee shall not exceed three (3) employee members. Employees on the negotiating committee may use either annual leave or Union leave (as described in paragraph C below) to attend bargaining sessions.
- C. Members of the Union may voluntarily contribute accumulated annual leave in one (1) hour increments to the Union Leave bank. Time contributed will be deducted from the contributing employee's leave balance without compensation to the employee. Contributions are irrevocable. Contributions may be made at any time throughout the year. After donating leave, an employee must have a leave balance sufficient to cover donating employee's approved leave periods. Leave must be used solely for the purposes defined above in this Article. The dates and times of leave usage are subject to the approval of the Director or designee based upon the staffing requirement of the Authority. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

#### D. Employee Deductions:

- 1. Upon receipt of a written authorization voluntarily executed by an employee, the Authority will deduct monthly Union dues from the salary of an employee who so requests, and transmit said monies to the Union. The parties shall agree upon the form of the written authorization.
- 2. The Union shall indemnify and hold the Authority harmless against any and all claims, demands, costs (including attorneys' fees), suits, and all forms of liability and damages (including but not limited to compensatory, consequential, and punitive damages) which arise or may arise out of, or by reason of, any action taken or not taken by the Authority pursuant to paragraph 1 above.
- E. The Union will provide the Authority with an updated list of the names of employees who are authorized to be stewards.
- F. The Union has the right to request and receive support documentation from the Authority to ensure compliance with provisions of this agreement.
- G. The Union will be permitted to acquire and maintain an approximately 24" x 36" bulletin board mounted in the dispatch center upon which to post any Union affairs materials.

#### ARTICLE 5

#### **MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

The Authority and the Union agree that the Authority possesses the sole right to operate the Authority and all management rights remain vested with the Authority. In this context, except as specifically surrendered or limited by express provision of this Agreement, all management rights, powers, authorities, functions, and prerogatives, whether heretofore or hereafter exercised, and regardless of the frequency of infrequency of their exercise, shall remain vested exclusively in the Authority. It is expressly recognized that these rights include, but are not limited to, the right to hire, direct, assign, or transfer an employee; the right to reduce in force or lay off employees, subject to the provisions of this Agreement regarding procedures for the lay off and/or reduction in force, provided further, any lay off or reduction in force shall not be utilized to discipline any employee; the right to determine, including the right to change appropriate staffing levels and work performance standards; the right to determine the content of the work day, including without limitation workload factors, except for safety considerations; the right to determine the quality and quantity of service to be offered to the public, and the means and methods of offering those services; the right to decide to contract or subcontract work performed by bargaining unit employees subject to the Union's right to negotiate with the Authority the impact or effect of such decision; the right to discipline, suspend, demote, and/or terminate employees; the right to consolidate change, combine, or eliminate jobs, job functions, and job classifications; the right to establish wage rates for new or changed jobs or job descriptions, subject to the Union's right to negotiate such matters; the right to introduce new or improved procedures, methods, processes, or to make technological changes; and the right to establish or change shift schedules or work starting and quitting times.

- B. Notwithstanding the provisions of any collective bargaining agreement negotiated pursuant to NRS Chapter 288, the Authority is entitled to take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out its responsibilities in situations of emergency such as a riot, military action, natural disaster, or civil disorder. Such actions may include the suspension of any collective bargaining agreement for the duration of the emergency. Any action taken under the provisions of this subsection shall not be construed as a failure to negotiate in good faith.
- C. The provisions of NRS Chapter 288, include without limitation the provisions of this Article and NRS 288.150, recognize and declare the ultimate right and responsibility of the Authority to manage its operation in the most efficient manner consistent with the best interests of all its citizens, its taxpayers, and its employees.
- D. The parties acknowledge that the Authority may establish policies and procedures to ensure the effective and efficient day-to-day operations of the Authority. Except when an immediate change is necessary to maintain Authority operations, a copy of any proposed new or changed policy or procedure will be provided to the Union at 555 W. Silver Street, Suite 104, Elko, NV by hand delivery, certified mail at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the proposed implementation date to allow the Union the opportunity to review the document to verify that the proposed provisions of the policy or procedure does not violate a specific provision of this Agreement.

#### NO STRIKE

The Union, any labor organization with whom it is affiliated, and the employees covered by this Agreement agree that they will not directly or indirectly promote, sponsor, engage in, or participate in any strike, as defined in NRS 288.070, against the Authority. Further, the Union will use its best efforts to require all employees covered by this Agreement to comply with this pledge.

#### ARTICLE 7

#### DISCIPLINARY ACTION

A. Policy: Except as set forth in Paragraph E of this Article, the procedure set forth below shall be followed only in respect to any written reprimand, suspension without pay, demotion, reduction in pay for disciplinary purposes, or disciplinary termination of a regular employee covered by this agreement. No employee shall be disciplined without just cause as determined by the Authority.

- 1. Written Notice: Written notice of the intended disciplinary action shall be given to the employee personally, or if personal delivery is not practicable, then written notice shall be mailed to the employee at his/her last known address by certified mail, return receipt requested. Such notice shall include a statement of the reason(s) for the intended action, the charge(s) being considered, the effective date of the intended action, and an explanation of the basis of the charges upon which the intended disciplinary action is based. A copy of such notice shall be mailed or hand delivered to the Union at 555 W. Silver Street, Suite 104, Elko, Nevada 89801.
- 2. Employee Response: Within ten calendar (10) days from the date of delivery or mailing by certified mail, the employee shall have the right to respond, orally or in writing to the Authority Director.
- 3. Relief of Duty: Notwithstanding or any other provisions of this Article, the Director or designee may take the following actions:
- a. Approve the temporary assignment of an employee to a status of leave with pay pending conduct or completion of such investigation(s) or the opportunity to respond as may be required to determine if disciplinary action is to be taken.
- b. If the crime is alleged to have been committed in the workplace or is a felony and charges are filed by the District Attorney, place the employee on leave without pay pending resolution of both the criminal and/or employment issues provided. In the event the issue is resolved with disciplinary action being taken, the employee shall receive full back pay for the period of leave without pay. In the event the issue is resolved within discipline, which includes less time off without pay than the employee has suffered, the employee shall receive full back pay for the time off which is not imposed as discipline.
- 4. Authority Response: After review of the employee's response, if any, the Director or designee shall notify the employee in writing of any action to be taken.
- B. Appeal: Regular employees may appeal disciplinary actions listed in paragraph A above. If the employee wishes to appeal the disciplinary action, s/he shall file a written request with the Director or designee within ten (10) working days of the imposition of the discipline. The appeal shall be heard by the Operations Board of the Authority within thirty (30) calendar days of the written request. The Operations Board shall receive evidence and testimony from the administration and the employee or his/her authorized representative during an informal hearing. The Operations Board may by majority vote, decide to uphold the disciplinary decision or reduce the disciplinary decision.
- C. If the matter is not settled in the previous step, the Union may, within ten (10) days of mailing of the Operations Board's decision, notify the Director or designee in writing of its desire to submit the matter to the Executive Board of the Authority. The Executive Board shall hold a meeting within thirty (30) days to consider the matter. The Executive Board shall conduct an informal hearing during which time it shall hear testimony and arguments from the Union representatives and from the Authority's staff and advisors. The Executive Board shall issue a written decision within ten (10) days of the conclusion of the hearing.
- D. If the Union is not satisfied with the decision of the Executive Board, the Union may request in writing to the Director within ten (10) calendar days of the Executive Board's decision that the matter be decided in arbitration. The parties shall attempt to agree upon the person who shall be the arbitrator. If the parties are unable to agree, the arbitrator shall be selected

from a panel of seven (7) arbitrators provided by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service. The arbitrator shall issue a final and binding decision.

The arbitrator's fees and expenses shall be borne equally by the parties. A party requesting the use of a court reporter shall pay all fees and costs associated; however, if the other party requests a copy of the product transcript, all such fees and costs shall be shared equally.

- E. Timeliness: The time limits set forth in this Article must be followed in a timely manner, unless alternative time schedules are mutually agreed to by the parties.
  - F. This Article shall not apply to employees serving a new-hire probationary period.

#### **ARTICLE 8**

#### **GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- A. A grievance shall be defined as a dispute between the Authority and the Union arising over the interpretation or application of a specific aspect of this Agreement which is not a management right. Grievances as defined above shall be resolved pursuant to this Article. This Article shall not apply to disciplinary action of any form.
- B. If an employee feels s/he has a grievance, s/he shall take up the matter with the Director or designee within ten (10) days after the employee becomes aware or should have become aware of the event giving rise to the grievance.
- C. The Director or designee shall make a reasonable effort to reach an acceptable solution to the problem within ten (10) days after it has been submitted to him/her. Any grievance settlement shall be approved in writing by the Director or designee.
- D. If the grievance is not settled during the informal discussion, the Union may proceed with the matter. To proceed, the Union shall submit the grievance in writing within ten (10) days after the conclusion of the informal discussion to the Director or designee and provide the following information:
  - 1. the employee's name;
  - 2. the employee's position classification'
  - 3. a complete statement of the nature of the grievance citing the

specific section of this Agreement which is the basis for the grievance;

- 4. any attempts made to resolve the problem;
- 5. a proposed solution to the grievance;
- 6. signature of the Business Representative of the Union; and
- 7. the date the grievance arose and the date the employee signed the statement. The Director or designee shall arrange for any meetings and investigations necessary to enable him/her to respond in writing to the Union regarding the grievance within ten (10) days from the date s/he received said grievance in writing.
- E. If the matter is not settled in the previous step, the Union may, within ten (10) days of mailing of the Director's or designee's decision, notify the Director or designee in writing of its desire to submit the matter to the Operations Board of the Authority. The Operations Board shall hold a meeting within thirty (30) days to consider the matter. The Operations Board shall conduct an informal hearing during which it shall hear testimony and argument from the Union

representatives and from the Authority's staff and advisors. The Operations Board shall issue a written decision within ten (10) days of the conclusion of the hearing.

- F. If the matter is not settled in the previous step, the Union may, within ten (10) days of mailing of the Operations Board's decision, notify the Director or designee in writing of its desire to submit the matter to the Executive Board of the Authority. The Executive Board shall hold a meeting within thirty (30) days to consider the matter. The Executive Board shall conduct an informal hearing during which time it shall hear testimony and arguments from the Union representatives and from the Authority's staff and advisors. The Executive Board shall issue a written decision within ten (10) days of the conclusion of the hearing.
- G. If the matter is not settled in the previous step after receipt of the written response from the Executive Board or designee, the Union may, within ten (10) days of receipt of the Executive Board's or designee's decision, notify the Director or designee in writing of its desire to submit the matter to an arbitrator. The arbitrator shall be selected from a panel of seven (7) arbitrators provided by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services.
- H. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding. The decision shall be in writing and shall set forth findings of fact, reasoning, and conclusion on the issues submitted.
- I. The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make any decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by law or which is in violation of the terms of this Agreement; nor will the arbitrator have any power to amend, modify, add, or delete provisions of this Agreement.
- J. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties. A party requesting the use of a court reporter shall pay all fees and costs associated; however, if the other party requests a copy of the transcript, all such fees and costs shall be shared equally.
- K. The Union shall furnish the Authority with the name(s) of its representative(s) authorized to file and settle grievances under the provisions of this Article.
- L. Any employee, informally seeking or formally filing a request to have his/her grievance reviewed, shall not be discriminated against while doing so, testifying on behalf of another employee, assisting another employee to prepare a grievance report, or acting as a representative of any employee requesting a grievance review.
- M. For purposes of this Article, the term "day" means any day Monday through Friday excluding holidays.
- N. The time limits set forth in this Article shall be strictly construed. The time limits specified in the preceding sections may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties. If the Union fails to file and/or process the grievance in a timely manner, it shall be conclusively presumed that the grievance is withdrawn with prejudice or satisfied. If the Authority fails to respond to the grievance in the time limits established in the preceding sections, the matter automatically moves to the next step.

#### HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, AND RECORDS

#### A. Hours of Work:

- 1. Rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes may be taken at or near the middle of every four (4) hour work period as is operationally practical. Employees shall be at work up until the starting time of the rest period and resume work promptly at the end of the rest period.
- 2. Except as may be changed by the Authority, all employees shall work a forty (40) hour work week. For purposes of computing overtime premium, the normal work week shall start at 0000:01 hours on Sunday and end at 2400:00 hours on Saturday.

In the event the Authority implements a reduction of the forty (40) hour work week, the change will be discussed with the Union prior to implementing the change.

- 3. For the term of this Agreement, dispatchers will be assigned to shifts with a paid thirty (30) minute lunch period.
- a. To the extent that it is operationally practical, the dispatchers shall be given their lunch period between the third (3<sup>rd</sup>) and sixth (6<sup>th</sup>) hour of their shift, which time shall be approved by the Director or designee. Lunch periods shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- b. The dispatchers shall take their lunch break on the premises and remain readily available to work in the event their duties must be resumed.
- c. This agreement shall sunset at the end of this Agreement and is not intended to, in any way affect management's rights to establish or change shift schedules, work starting or quitting times, or lunch periods for dispatchers at the end of this Agreement.
- 4. Employees may be able to shift trade days within the current pay period. These shift trades are a voluntary agreement between two (2) employees requesting the trade. The trade must be authorized by the Director or designee in advance of the first traded day. Shift trades will not result in overtime. Shift trades will not interfere with the operation of the agency. The employee regularly scheduled to work the shift is responsible for ensuring shift coverage, and the employee will hold the CDAA harmless for the failure of the other employees to pay back traded shifts.
- 5. During the term of this agreement, and upon mutual approval between the Authority and the Union, negotiations regarding shift schedules may be reopened if the Department of Labor (DOL) determines that Emergency Dispatchers qualify for the FSLA 7K exemption.
  - B. Minimum Staffing
- a. The Authority has determined that a minimum of two (2) dispatchers will be on the floor at all times.

#### C Overtime:

- 1. Overtime work must be approved by the Director or designee in advance.
- 2. When an employee is called in to work on a day when either s/he was not scheduled to work, or is required to report to the dispatch center more than one (1) hour before the beginning of his/her shift or more than one (1) hour after the end of his/her shift, s/he shall be guaranteed at least two (2) hours of work time.

- 3. When an employee is called in early to work with less than one (1) day's notice, such call-in shall not change the hours of the employee's regular work schedule for the day. If an employee and the Authority mutually agree, the employee can work a regularly scheduled shift and Article 11, Section C will not apply.
  - 4. Overtime Compensation:
- a. An employee regularly scheduled to work a five (5) day, forty (40) hour work week shall be paid time and one-half  $(1\frac{1}{2})$  his/her regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in the day or in excess of forty (40) hours in the week.
- b. An employee regularly scheduled to work a four (4) day forty (40) hour work week shall be paid time and one-half (1½) his/her regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of ten (10) hours in the day or in excess of forty (40) hours in the week.
  - c. Overtime premium pay shall not be pyramided.
- 5. Overtime compensation may be paid in cash or in compensatory time off under the following restrictions:
- a. Compensatory time off at the standard overtime rate may be granted at the discretion of the Director or designee in lieu of cash payment and may be allowed to accrue as compensatory time off, up to a maximum of one hundred (100) hours. Any hours in excess of one hundred (100) hours will be paid at the applicable rate. If compensatory time in lieu of overtime is allowed by the Director or designee, when electing compensatory time or pay, the employee shall choose either compensatory time or overtime. After the employee makes a decision, hours shall not be transferred from the status of overtime pay to compensatory time or from compensatory time to overtime pay.
- b. Compensatory time will be considered as time worked when calculating overtime.
- c. Holiday pay will not be used for compensatory time in lieu of cash payment.
- 6. The Authority will distribute overtime as equitably as practical among the employees. Employees are expected to work a reasonable amount of overtime and all overtime required during an emergency as required by the Authority to carry out its responsibilities. Employees interested in working overtime for the day shall advise their immediate supervisor of their availability prior to noon each day. Regular employees working that day and having the requisite skills to perform the functions shall be offered the overtime before offering overtime to temporary/seasonal employees. The Authority shall have the right to assign employees overtime if an adequate number of volunteers are not available to perform the work. Failure of an employee to make himself/herself available for a reasonable amount of overtime for the Authority to carry out its responsibilities and overtime required in accordance with the emergency provisions of the Agreement shall be cause for discipline.
  - D Records and Attendance:
    - 1. Each employee shall submit accurate attendance, time, and leave records.
- 2. In no instance will the employee's normal commuting time to and from his/her residence to his/her normal place of work be considered as work time.
- 3. Employees who will be absent or late shall notify their immediate supervisor with as much advance notice as possible, but not less than one (1) hour prior to the start of their shift. Employees who arrive after the start of the shift shall be docked pay for time not worked.

4. Employees shall submit time sheets for payroll no later than Sunday by midnight (2400 hrs.), marking the beginning day of the new pay period. If the employee is not working on Sunday, they will be required to submit their time sheet prior to taking days off

#### ARTICLE 10

#### **COMPENSATION**

- A. Effective July 1, 2021, the salary for all employees covered by this Agreement shall be those stated in Exhibit A, representing a 1.45% increase from the prior year ending June 30, 2021 for the position of Dispatcher I, Dispatcher II and Lead Dispatcher.
- B. Effective July 1, 2022, the salary for all employees covered by this Agreement shall be those stated in Exhibit B, representing a 3% from the prior year ending June 30, 2022 for the position of Dispatcher I, Dispatcher II, and Lead Dispatcher.
- C. Effective July 1, 2023, the salary for all employees covered by this Agreement shall be those stated in Exhibit C, representing a 3% increase from the prior year ending June 30, 2023 for the position of Dispatcher I, Dispatcher II, and Lead Dispatcher.
- D. Pay periods shall be semi-monthly and the dates of payment shall be established by the entity administering the Authority payroll, but no changes will be made to the dates of payment without thirty (30) days notice.
- E. Initial appointment to a position shall be made at a rate of pay within the salary range for the position, determined by the Director to be consistent with existing salaries and responsibilities.
- F. Longevity Pay:
  - 1. Employees who have completed five (5) years of continuous service are eligible for a \$100 semi-annual longevity bonus. Each year thereafter, the longevity bonus will increase by \$50 per year to a maximum of \$1,450 annually for thirty (30) or more years of continuous service. An employee shall be eligible for longevity pay only if s/he is employed on the day on which longevity payments are payable (see paragraph 3 below).
- 2. The schedule for longevity pay for employees with performance reviews of standard or better is as follows:

Years of Completed Service	Semi-Annual Amount	Total Amount
5	\$100	\$200
6	\$125	\$250
7	\$150	\$300
8	\$175	\$350
9	\$200	\$400
10	\$225	\$450
11	\$250	\$500
12	\$275	\$550

13	\$300	\$600
14	\$325	\$650
15	\$350	\$700
16	\$375	\$750
17	\$400	\$800
18	\$425	\$850
19	\$450	\$900
20	\$475	\$950
21	\$500	\$1,000
22	\$525	\$1,050
23	\$550	\$1,100
24	\$575	\$1,150
25	\$600	\$1,200
26	\$625	\$1,250
27	\$650	\$1,300
28	\$675	\$1,350
29	\$700	\$1,400
30	\$725	\$1,450

- 3. Longevity pay shall be payable on June 20 and December 20 of each year. An employee will receive the first check during the year following the employee's fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) anniversary year of employment with the Authority. If the employment anniversary date falls between January 1 and June 30 of the year, the first check will be June 20. If the anniversary date falls between July 1 and December 31 of that year, the first check will be December 20.
- 4. For purposes of longevity pay, continuous Authority service is defined as uninterrupted employment in the regular full-time service of the Authority. Service as a dispatcher (or lead dispatcher) in employment of the City of Elko shall be considered service with the Authority.
- 5. Authorized Leave without Pay: If an employee makes proper application for leave without pay and the Authority grants such leave, the resulting absence by the employee shall not be considered interruption in service, provided the employee returns to Authority service within one (1) year. However, the employee's seniority shall be reduced by the number of days of such leave without pay.
- 6. Upon the death of any person employed by the Authority on the employee's date of death, payment of any salaries due, including longevity pay shall be paid to the employee's beneficiaries or estate.

#### SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL AND SHIFT CHOICE

A. Employees who work four (4) or more hours between 1500 hours and 0700 hours shall receive an eight percent (8%) differential pay on their base hourly rate for all hours actually worked on the shift.

#### B. Shift Rotation:

Dispatchers will bid for shifts every eight (8) months and will rotate every four (4) months. Changes in regularly assigned shifts will be effective the first shift worked beginning in the first pay period beginning after January 1, May 1 and September 1 of each year.

- 2. Bidding will take place during the calendar days of November 7<sup>th</sup>, July 7<sup>th</sup>, and March 7<sup>th</sup> for two (2) consecutive rotations and end at midnight on the 7<sup>th</sup> day. Not later than the end of the day before bidding is to begin, the director or designee shall post a bid sheet in a format agreed to between the Authority and the Union stating the work days and work hours of each available shift.. Bids will be submitted in writing to the director. Bids shall include first and second choices of shifts. Shifts for employees working less than a full-time schedule shall not be subject to the shift bidding process.
- 3. Employees who will have completed less than nineteen (19) weeks of their initial probationary period when shift assignments are changed and employees working less than a full-time schedule will be assigned to shifts by the Director based upon the needs of the Authority.
- 4. Shift assignment shall be made to regular, full-time employees on the basis of seniority as defined in Article 13. The most senior regular, full-time employee, who is not the incumbent on the shift being bid, will be assigned the shift of his/her choice. In the event two (2) employees with equal seniority request the same shift and only one (1) employee can be assigned to the shift, the employee who is currently not assigned to the shift will be assigned to the shift. In the event of a tie not broken by the above procedure, shift assignment will be made by drawing lots. Part-time employees will be assigned to shifts based upon the needs of the Authority.
- 5. The Director will post the revised shift resulting from the shift bidding process not later than ten (10) calendar days from end of the bid.
- 6. Employees who would work less than a forty (40) hour work week as a result of the shift rotation shall be provided an opportunity to work a full forty (40) hour work week, provided such additional work time shall not be considered overtime under any provision of this Agreement.

#### C. Notice of Shift Change:

The Authority shall have the right to institute temporary shift schedule changes to accommodate effective and efficient operating requirements of the Authority. Compensation in the event of a temporary shift change shall be determined pursuant to the chart below. The Authority shall give notification of a temporary shift change directly to the affected employee. This article will be applied to actual shift changes only and not to overtime for shift coverage, trainings or meetings.

#### D. Shift Back Fill

In the event a dispatcher leaves employment with the Authority, the most senior non-incumbent dispatcher who originally bid and lost the shift, the leaving dispatcher is on will have first choice of back filling the shift. There must be at least 60 days remaining of the rotation and it must have been the dispatcher's first choice.

This is a onetime offer to the most senior non-incumbent dispatcher who originally bid for the shift and didn't get it and whether they accept the back fill or not.

Duration of the	Less Than 5 Days	5 to 10 Days	More Than 10 Days
Shift Change	Duration	Duration	Duration
If Less Than	T ½ for all hours	T ½ for the first 10	T ½ for the first 10
10 Days Notice	outside bid shift	days outside bid	days outside bid
is Given		shift	shift
If 10 Days	Straight time	Straight time	Straight time
or More Notice			
is Given			

#### **ARTICLE 12**

#### **TEMPORARY PAY**

The Director may temporarily appoint an employee to a higher classification for the purpose of filling a position that has been temporarily vacated. An employee holding an acting appointment for at least one (1) full shift shall receive a six percent (6%) increase in his/her current base rate of pay for the duration of the appointment. Upon the return of the person who has been on vacation, injured or ill, or other reason, the temporary appointee shall return to his/her original salary before the appointment. This provision will not apply to employees who are assigned to a higher classification for training purposes. Employees accepting such temporary appointment shall not be considered to have accepted a position outside of the bargaining unit under Article 13.

The Director may temporarily appoint an employee to a floor training assignment for the purpose of training other employees. Such assignment shall result in the appointee receiving an eight percent (8%) increase in pay for the training hours worked.

#### **SENIORITY**

- A. Seniority means the length of an employee's continuous service with the Authority and service with the City of Elko as a Dispatcher I, Dispatcher II, or Lead Dispatcher that is immediately (without a break in service) prior to July 1, 2000. An employee who has not completed the initial probationary period shall not be considered to have seniority and shall not be considered a regular employee. Seniority shall not accrue during any unpaid leave of absence.
- B. In the event that 2 new hires begin their employment on the same day, the probationary new hire with the highest hiring score will be considered the most senior. In the event one new hire completes probation and the second new hire's probation is extended, the new hire completing probation first will be considered the most senior, regardless of hiring scores.
- C. Continuous service is defined as uninterrupted employment in the regular service of the Authority and service as a dispatcher or lead dispatcher in employment of the City of Elko.
- D. Continuous Service: The following shall not be considered as breaks in continuous service for all personnel actions:
- 1. Authorized military leave for active service, provided that the person is reinstated within ninety (90) calendar days following honorable discharge from the military service.
- 2. Authorized military leave for training duties not to exceed fifteen (15) working days in any one (1) calendar year.
- 3. Authorized leave with pay which the Authority deems to be beneficial to the public service.
- 4. Authorized leave without pay for thirty (30) working days or less in any calendar year.

#### HOLIDAYS

- A. The following are paid holidays for Authority employees:
  - 1. New Year's Day
  - 2. Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday
  - 3. President's Day
  - 4. Memorial Day
  - 5. Independence Day
  - 6. Labor Day
  - 7. Nevada Day
  - 8. Veteran's Day
  - 9. Thanksgiving Day
  - 10. The day after Thanksgiving Day
  - 11. Christmas Day
  - 12. Floating Holiday (Day Off)
  - 13. Any other day that may be designated by the Board of Directors
  - 14. Until the expiration date of this agreement, any holiday added to the NRS after the ratification of this Agreement.
- B. The following shall be considered as paid holidays under this Agreement and when no work is performed on these days, an Employee shall be paid for their regular scheduled shift at their regular straight-time rate of pay. Should any of these holidays fall on Sunday the following Monday shall be considered a paid holiday. Should any of these holidays fall on Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be considered a paid holiday. In the event there is any work performed on any of the above-mentioned holidays, the Employee shall receive two and half (2.5) times the straight time hourly rate for all work performed on the actual holiday in addition to the paid holiday.
- C. Eligibility for Holiday Pay
- 1. Employee must be a regular full-time employee on the day the holiday occurs.
  - 2. Employee must have worked in full, when scheduled, the Employee's regularly scheduled straight time work day prior to and the Employee's regularly scheduled straight time work day subsequent to the holiday, unless on days off or on authorized leave.
- D. When an employee works on one of the designated holidays, the employee shall receive, in addition to his/her regular pay, one and one-half (1½) times his/her straight time hourly rate for all hours worked on the holiday.
- E. If a holiday falls during an employee's authorized leave (vacation period, bereavement leave, compensatory leave or sick leave), the holiday taken shall not be charged to annual leave or compensatory time off.
- F. Employees covered by this Agreement who do not work on the holidays hereinbefore designated, and who meet the eligibility requirements hereinbefore set forth, shall be compensated for such holiday prorated on an equal hourly basis as compared to their regular assigned hours at the straight time hourly rate, excluding premiums, of the particular employee.

G. Holidays not worked will be considered as time worked when calculating overtime.

#### **ARTICLE 15**

#### ANNUAL LEAVE

- A. Employees who are employed on a continuous, full-time basis shall accrue annual leave credits at the rate of ten (10) hours for each month of service beginning in the seventh (7<sup>th</sup>) month of service through the sixtieth (60<sup>th</sup>) month of service, to a maximum accumulation of two hundred forty (240) hours. After five (5) years of service employees shall accrue leave at the rate of fourteen (14) hours for each month of service, to a maximum accumulation of two hundred sixty (260) hours. After ten (10) years of service employees shall accrue leave at the rate of fourteen (14) hours for each month of service, to a maximum accumulation of two hundred and eighty (280) hours. Annual leave accrual shall be pro-rated for employees working or on paid leave for less than a full month.
- B. Leave accrual shall be pro-rated for an employee working or on paid leave for less than a full month. Leave accrual shall also be pro-rated for an employee scheduled for less than a full-time schedule.
- C. No annual leave shall be accumulated above the maximum accumulation for an employee's years of service. No compensation will be paid for annual leave not credited to the employee's leave bank.

An employee may be paid at his/her base hourly rate of pay for forty (40) hours of annual leave in those limited situations when all of the following conditions have been met:

- i. An employee will reach the maximum accumulation within the next Forty-five (45) days after having requested and been denied the use Of at least forty (40) hours of annual leave; and
- ii. The employee has used forty (40) consecutive hours of leave within The twelve (12) month period ending on the date on which the leave Accrual maximum would otherwise be reached; and
- iii. The scheduled leave will not reduce the employee's accumulation before the employee reaches the accrual maximum.

#### OR

iv. As of December 1, an employee has a minimum of one-hundred twenty (120) hours of accrued annual leave and submits a written request for payment, written requests shall be submitted between December 1 and December 15 of each calendar year.

Upon payment for the annual leave, the employee's leave balance will be reduced by forty (40) hours.

D. A new-hire probationary employee shall not accrue annual leave until after s/he has completed probation entirely. Upon completion of probation, the employee will be credited with annual leave equivalent to rate of ten (10) hours for each month of continuous full-time service. Time off without pay may be granted within the probationary period of

- employment at the discretion of the Authority, but in no way shall interfere with leave requests submitted by regular (non-probationary) employees.
- E. Any employee who leaves the Authority's service shall be paid his/her current base hourly rate for unused accrued annual leave.
- F. If an employee dies who was entitled to accumulate unused annual leave under the provisions of this Agreement, the heirs of such deceased officer or employee who are successors to his/her estate, upon submitting satisfactory proof to the Authority of their entitlement, shall be paid an amount of hours accrued annual leave multiplied by the hourly rate of such deceased employee, less deductions.
- G. Approval: No annual leave will be taken without prior approval of the Director or designee. Annual leave in increments of less than one (1) hour shall not be allowed. An employee with approved, scheduled annual leave who is unable to take his/her leave due to cancellation by the Authority shall be reimbursed for the actual amount of forfeited deposits or advanced payments for travel if the cancelled leave was approved more than sixty (60) days in advance of the planned leave, or if the leave was cancelled with less than thirty (30) days advance notice. The amount of payment shall not exceed the amount of penalty that is actually paid by the employee for rescheduling the travel. Proof of attempt to recover the full amount and of the amount that is forfeited must be provided to the Authority within sixty (60) days of the cancellation.
- H. Employees, while on annual leave, will continue to accrue annual leave.
- I. An employee may use annual leave to attend funeral service for persons outside his/her immediate family. Immediate family is defined as spouse, domestic partner, parent, brother, sister, child grandparent, grandchild, or corresponding relationship by affinity.
- J. Requests for Annual Leave:
- 1. Any request over forty (40) hours of leave may be made up to twelve (12) months in advance with no less than fourteen (14) calendar days' advance notice. Requests for up to forty (40) hours of leave may be made up to six (6) months in advance with no less than six (6) calendar days' advance notice. Spontaneous requests for leave of a regularly scheduled shift or a portion of a regularly scheduled shift shall be made one (1) hour prior to the start of that shift. Approval will be dependent upon CDAA's ability to maintain required minimum staffing levels without resulting in overtime.
- 2. The Director or designee shall make a reasonable effort to respond to all leave requests in writing.
  - a. Requests shall be considered in the order received. If more than one request is received on the same day for the same day(s), the request from the employee with the longest continuous employment without a break in service with the Authority/City of Elko on the date on which the request is made will be considered first.
  - b. No more than one dispatcher being off at a time in a scheduled calendar day. Spontaneous leave not causing overtime as per the CBA will be exempt from this. If the authority wishes to adjust to cover vacation then the authority must adjust and communicate no later than ten (10) days, except for emergency circumstances.
  - c. Annual leave of one employee may not be cancelled to enable approval of leave for any other employee, unless such annual leave is being used for the illness of the employee or a member of the employee's family.

d. Leave requests will not be approved if, considering currently approved request, the employee will not have sufficient leave to cover all approved requests.

#### **ARTICLE 16**

#### SICK LEAVE

- A. Sick leave is for use by an employee who is unavoidably absent because of personal illness, temporary disability, medical appointment, accident, or diagnostic test(s). The determination of whether sick leave is to be compensated or not shall be made on the basis of the provisions set in this Article. Sick leave shall not be granted for out-of-area travel time for appointments or treatments unless the employee was referred by a medical practitioner or the treatment was not locally available. All information concerning an employee's request for sick leave shall be kept confidential between the employee and management. If an employee does not have annual leave available and has an out-of-area appointment, the employee may use time without pay. Continuance of pay during absence from duty for individual or family sickness shall depend upon compliance with the following procedures:
- 1. On the first day of absence from duty, the employee, or if the employee is unable to do so, someone on his/her behalf, shall notify the Authority no less than two (2) hour(s) before the start of the shift of the reason for such absence. If the duration of the illness lasts longer than one (1) day, the employee, or if the employee is unable to do so, someone on his/her behalf, must notify the Director or designee on a scheduled basis agreed to by the Director, of the progress towards returning to work.
- 2. Within two (2) working days after returning to duty, such employee shall fill out and file with the Director or designee, a written report and request for approval of the absence as sick leave.
- 3. In the event of absence of three (3) consecutive days or more due to illness, an employee will be required to submit to the Director or designee a return to work certificate from a physician on the date of his/her return to work.
- 4. Request for scheduling of five (5) or more consecutive days of sick leave for the purpose of medical procedures shall be accompanied by a written verification from the licensed physician or practitioner.
- 5. Use of sick leave for immediate family (defined as spouse, domestic partner, parent, child, or corresponding relationship by affinity) related illness is limited to sixty (60) working hours in any one (1) calendar year.
- 6. Any combination of work and sick leave on one (1) day shall not result in the payment of overtime pay.
- B. Bereavement Leave: In the event of the death of a member of the immediate family, an employee may request up to forty (40) hours of sick leave. Immediate family is defined as spouse, domestic partner, parent, brother, sister, child, grandparent, grandchild, or corresponding relationship by affinity.
- C. Regular and family sick leave shall be charged on the basis of one (1) hour of accrued sick leave for each hour or portion thereof on leave approved and taken.
  - D. Accrual:

- 1. Regular employees shall accrue sick leave from the first day of employment.
- 2. Employees shall accrue sick leave at the rate of ten (10) hours per month. Sick leave accrual shall be pro-rated for employees working or on paid leave for less than a full month. Sick leave accrual shall also be pro-rated for employees scheduled for less than a full-time schedule.

#### E. Misuse:

- 1. Any employee who calls in sick or leaves work early due to illness or injury shall, except those who leave home to obtain medical treatment or attention, remain at home to expedite his/her recuperation, prevent the image of abuse of the sick leave policy, help promote good morale and discipline, and preserve public trust.
- 2. Any employee fraudulently claiming sick leave shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including discharge.

#### F. Sick Leave Accrual:

An employee may accumulate a maximum of nine hundred sixty (960) hours sick leave. After an employee has accumulated nine hundred sixty (960) hours of sick leave credit, the amount of additional unused sick leave credit which s/he is entitled to carry forward from one year to the next is limited to one-half (1/2) of the sick leave accrual during the year. The remaining one-half (1/2) of sick leave accrual over nine hundred sixty (960) hours shall be placed in a separate account to be used by an employee under the following conditions:

- 1. The employee is suffering from a long-term or chronic illness. Chronic illness is defined as a disease or ailment that is a lasting condition for a period of months or years, cannot be easily corrected within a short period of time, and generally is not of a temporary disabling or incapacitating nature;
  - 2. The employee has used all sick leave otherwise available to him/her; and
  - 3. Approval has been given by the Board of Directors.
  - G. Payment of Sick Leave Upon Retirement or Death:
- 1. Upon retirement, an employee shall be paid accrued sick leave up to nine hundred sixty (960) hours based on the percentage as set forth in the Nevada Public Employees Retirement Act (NRS 286.010 and following). Accumulated extra sick leave will not be credited toward payment of sick leave upon retirement.
- 2. If an employee dies who is entitled to accumulated sick leave under the provisions of this agreement, the heirs of such employee who are successors to his/her estate, upon submitting satisfactory proof to the Authority of their entitlement, shall be paid an amount of money equal to the number of hours of accrued sick leave up to a maximum of nine hundred sixty (960) hours multiplied by the hourly rate of such deceased employee, less deductions.
  - H. Sick leave time will be considered as time worked when calculating overtime.

#### LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- A. Leave of Absence without Pay:
- 1. Employees may request leave without pay for any reason considered valid by the Director or designee.
- 2. An employee desiring to apply for leaving without pay shall submit an application to the Director outlining the necessity or desirability of such leave. The Director or designee may, at his/her discretion, grant written approval for leave without pay.
- 3. Leave without pay may be granted only to an employee who is capable of returning to the Authority and intends to return to Authority service.
- 4. Leave without pay of less than thirty (30) days or more may be granted by the Director or designee.
- 5. Leave without pay of thirty (30) days or more may be granted for the good of the public service by the Board of Directors.
- 6. While on authorized leave without pay, sick leave and annual leave will not accrue. In addition, the employee will be required to pay the employer's and dependents' portion of the group health insurance, if continuation of coverage is desired by the employee.
- 7. Leave of absence without pay may be granted at the discretion of the Authority for any legitimate purpose, including but not limited to the following:
- a. To further an employee's education. (Ordinarily such leave will be granted only if (1) the employee's absence will not constitute a hardship for fellow employees or supervisors; (2) the leave will directly benefit the Authority as well as the individual.
- b. For recovery from an extended illness of the employee when accrued paid leave has been exhausted.
- c. To care for a member of the immediate family in the event of extended illness of injury not covered by sick leave usage.
  - d. To take care of personal problems.
  - B. Leave of Absence With Pay:
- 1. Leave may be granted in writing by the Director or designee for authorized attendance at official or educational meetings.
  - C. Unauthorized Absences:
- 1. An unauthorized absence from work shall be treated as leave without pay and may be cause for disciplinary action.
- 2. An unauthorized absence for three (3) consecutive days shall be regarded as an automatic resignation from Authority employment.
- 3. Exceptions to 1 and 2 may be granted in extreme emergency and unusual situations.

#### CATASTROPHIC HEALTH PLAN

- A. The purpose of this plan is to provide for the continuation of pay in the event of an illness or injury of the employee or the employee's immediate family members.
- B. The plan allows full-time, non-probationary employees to donate accrued sick leave for another full-time employee.
- C. Donations can only be made to an employee who has exhausted their annual leave, sick leave, and compensatory time accruals.
- D. Donations are strictly voluntary and no CDAA employee is required to participate.
- E. A maximum of forty (40) hours per calendar year may be received from any single person.
- F. A maximum of eighty (80) hours per calendar year may be donated from any single person.
- G. Minimum donations will be in ten (10) hour increments for ten (10) hour shift personnel and eight (8) hour shift personnel.
- H. Donations will be on an hour-for-hour basis, regardless of pay differentials.
- I. Donors must complete and sign a donation form stating the recipient number of hours donated.

#### **ARTICLE 19**

#### JURY DUTY

#### A. Jury Duty.

- 1. When an employee serves on a jury, the employee shall claim any jury duty fee to which s/he is entitled by reason of such appearance and forthwith pay the same over to the Authority. The employee shall present proof of service and the amount of jury duty pay received.
- 2. An employee subpoenaed to appear as a witness for a job-related matter not initiated by the employee or the Union in a court will be paid his/her regular rate of pay for the actual time spent as a witness. Employees subpoenaed as a witness in non-job-related matters will be allowed to take annual leave or compensatory time off provided the employee gives advance notice of the reason for the absence and submits proof of having been subpoenaed as a witness.
- 3. Employees appearing in court as a juror or witness on their scheduled days off shall retain any compensation received for jury/witness duty for the appearance.

#### MILITARY LEAVE

#### A. Military leave.

- 1. An unpaid leave of absence for military, Reserve, or National Guard duty will be granted to employees upon request. Employees will be granted unpaid leave for the period of the military service as documented, and in accordance with applicable federal and state laws. Copies of military orders must be provided to the Director or designee at the time the military leave is requested.
- 2. Eligibility for reinstatement at the conclusion of military service or training will be determined in accordance with applicable federal and state laws.

#### **ARTICLE 21**

#### WORK-RELATED INJURY LEAVE

- A. Employees are insured under the provisions of the State Workers' Compensation Act for occupational injuries and diseases that arise/arose out of and in the course of their employment. Employees are required to report all on-the-job accidents, injuries, or illness to their immediate supervisor/manager as soon as reasonably possible or within 24 hours of the accident, injury, or illness. Employees are also required to complete the C-1 form within seven (7) days of the accident, injury, or illness, regardless of whether medical attention was received.
  - 1. When an employee is eligible at the same time for benefits for temporary total disability under NRS 616A to 619D, inclusive, or NRS 617, and for any leave benefits he/she may, by giving notice to the supervisor or manager, elect to continue to receive his/her accrued sick leave, comp time, annual leave, or approved catastrophic leave (if any), in this order, is exhausted. The Authority will notify the Workers' compensation Administrator of the election. The Authority will continue to pay the employee his/her normal salary, but charge against the employee's accrued leave time as taken during the pay period an amount which represents the difference between his/her normal salary and the amount of any benefit for temporary total disability received, exclusive of reimbursement or payment of medical or hospital expenses under NRS 616A to 616D, inclusive, or NRS 617 for that pay period.
  - 2. When the employee's accrued leave time is exhausted, payment of his/her normal salary under subsection 1 must be discontinued and the Authority will promptly notify the Worker's Compensation Administrator so that it may begin paying the benefits to which the employee is entitled directly to the employee.

- 3. An employee who declines to make the election provided in subsection 1 may use all or any part of the leave benefit normally payable to him/her while directly receiving benefits for temporary total disability under NRS 616A to 616D, inclusive, or NRS 617, but the amount of leave benefit paid to the employee for any pay period must not exceed the difference between his/her normal salary and the amount of any benefit received, exclusive of reimbursement or payment of medical or hospital expenses under those statutes for that pay period.
- 4. If the amount of the employee's leave benefit is reduced, pursuant to subsection 3, below the amount normally payable, the amount of leave time charged against the employee as taken during that pay period must be reduced in the same proportion.
- 5. An employee may decline to use any part of the leave benefit normally payable to him/her while receiving benefits under NRS 616A to 616D, inclusive, or NRS 617. During that period of time, the employee will be considered on leave of absence without pay.
- B. Authority Vehicle Involved In an Accident:
- 1. An employee involved in a vehicle accident while on Authority business shall immediately report the accident to the appropriate law enforcement agency and to his/her immediate supervisor.
- 2. If an Authority vehicle causes damage to public or private property, an uninjured employee shall not leave the scene of the accident until law enforcement arrive or the Director or designee has advised the employee what to do.
- 3. If an Authority employee is convicted of a citation as a result of an accident, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action.

#### HEALTH AND WELFARE AND EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

A. The Authority shall pay an amount not to exceed \$1,456.00 per month effective July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022 for the insurance premium for group health, dental, vision, and life insurance through the Northern Nevada Operating Engineers Health and Welfare Trust for each full-time regular and probationary employee. The Authority shall pay an amount not to exceed \$1,506.00 per month effective July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023 for the insurance premium for group health, dental, vision, and life insurance through the Northern Nevada Operating Engineers Health and Welfare Trust for each full-time regular and probationary employee. The Authority shall pay an amount not to exceed \$1,556.00 per month effective July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 for the insurance premium for group health, dental, vision, and life insurance through the Northern Nevada Operating Engineers Health and Welfare Trust for each

full-time regular and probationary employee. Effective July 1, 2021, each full-time regular and probationary employee shall pay \$200.00 per month to offset the cost of group health, dental, vision, and life insurance. If the annual insurance premium increase for group health, dental, vision, and life insurance through the Northern Nevada Operating Engineers Health and Welfare Trust decreases or increases 10% in any given year, the parties agree to reopen Article 22 for negotiations upon written request of either party. If the annual insurance rate has no increase from the prior year than the premium will remain the same as previous year. The Union shall provide the health insurance benefits to regular and probationary employees of the Authority who have completed thirty (60) consecutive days of employment, including regular and probationary employees of the Authority whose positions are not included in the bargaining unit. The Authority shall remit monthly payment for such benefits as provided above to the Union or its designee. The first payment for the employee will be made with the first regular Monthly Report of Contributions submitted after the employee has completed his/her first sixty (60) days of employment.

- B. The Northern Nevada Operating Engineers Health and Welfare Trust will allow full-time non-bargaining unit employees access to the Trust's health, dental, vision, and life insurance on a basis equal to that of the bargaining unit members; provided however, that the Authority will pay a thirty-four dollar (\$34.00) per month administrative fee for any such employee.
- C. The Union agrees that such premium payment will be considered in determining the amount of any future salary adjustment.
- D. To the extent provided by law and the health insurance plan, the employee shall have the option of converting the health, dental, and vision insurance coverage at the time of his/her separation from employment with the Authority.
- E. If the Trust changes from a "single tier" premium structure to a multi-tier premium structure, the Authority's obligation for payment of the health care premium shall be the lesser of the new employee only rate or the dollar amount paid for the single-tier premium pursuant to paragraph C of this Article.
- F. All employees covered by the plan shall be given advance notice of changes in the group health insurance coverage or premiums by the Union and/or the Northern Nevada Operating Engineers Health and Welfare Trust. The parties waive all right to bargaining over changes in coverage implemented by the Trust to cover all employees covered by the Trust's plan.
- G. Should any employee covered by the group health, dental, vision, and life insurance plan provided pursuant to this Agreement retire, the Authority may reopen this Article for the purpose of making such changes which may be needed to ensure compliance with the provisions of NRS 287 and any other relevant statute requiring the Authority to provide retirees access to group health insurance plans.

#### RETIREMENT

All employees covered by this Agreement shall participate in the Public Employees Retirement System ("PERS") of the State of Nevada in accordance with the rules of that system as set forth in NRS Chapter 286 *et seq*.

- A. Pursuant to NRS 286.421.3, employees' salaries must be adjusted to reflect employees' portion of the contributions by either reducing employees' salary, or in lieu of an equivalent salary or cost-of-living increase. The CDAA employees are each responsible for equal dollar amounts of the contributions.
- B. If the contribution rate increases or decreases in the future, employees' salaries shall be adjusted as required pursuant to NRS 276.421.3. If the contribution rate decreases, then the employees' salaries shall be increased by their one-half share of the contribution decrease. If the contribution rate increases, then the employees' salaries shall be reduced by the employees' one-half share of the contribution increase.

#### **ARTICLE 24**

#### SAFETY AND HEALTH

- A. The right way to do any job is the safe way. Employees are expected to prevent accidents by observing the accident prevention program. Employees do this by:
  - 1. Forming a habit of working safely,
  - 2. Always using personal safety equipment provided.
  - 3. Reporting all dangerous conditions.
  - 4. Reporting all accidents, even minor ones.
  - 5. Suggesting ways to prevent accidents.
  - 6. Telling the new employee about the importance of safety his/her accident may injure others.
- 7. Being sure all seat belts are fastened when driving a vehicle on Authority business.
  - 8. Watching the bulletin board for safety notices.
  - 9. Reporting to work fit and ready for duty.
- B. The Authority and the Union agree to the formation of a Health and Safety Committee. The Parties agree to cooperate in promoting an appreciation of this committee and an understanding of the means toward its accomplishment among Management and Employees.

#### **BUSINESS EXPENSES**

When employees are required to travel on official business, the Authority will pay reasonable amounts for transportation, meals, and lodging as provided by Authority policy.

- A. Employees will be reimbursed for all reasonable and necessary travel expenses when authorized and directly related to the performance of their assigned duties. The Authority will not reimburse or otherwise pay any expense that violates commonly accepted standards of sound judgment and good taste. All claims with required receipts for travel expenses are to be submitted to the Director for approval within five (5) working days following a trip.
- B. Mileage: If available, employees must use an Authority provided vehicle. If no Authority provided vehicle is available and an employee uses a personal vehicle, mileage will be reimbursed at the per mile rate set by the Nevada Legislature for state employees and officials. If an employee drives a personal vehicle when commercial air travel would be more efficient, the mileage reimbursement will be limited to the cost of the airfare.
- C. Lodging: Moderate cost lodging should be arranged at the meeting/training site, when possible. Reimbursement will be based on the cost of a single room, plus tax, if available. The actual cost of lodging will be reimbursed and a receipt must be submitted.
  - D. Meals: A per diem rate for meals is set at a rate of \$27.00 per day.
- E. Other Expenses: Necessary business telephone calls at the meeting or training site, parking charges, and/or ground transportation will be reimbursed. Travel advances may be granted if requested and approved in advance by the Director.
- F. Unallowable Expenses: The Authority will not reimburse for 1) fines and avoidable parking tickets, 2) towing or impounding fees, 3) traffic violations, 4) alcoholic beverages, 5) personal entertainment, 6) tobacco, and 7) unnecessary or extravagant costs of any kind.

#### **ARTICLE 26**

#### LAYOFF AND RECALL

- A. If the Authority determines that it is necessary to reduce the work force, employees shall be selected for lay off based on merit and seniority as defined in Article 13. The factors to be considered in selecting which employees will be laid off include but are not limited to prior performance, productivity, efficiency, qualifications, attitude, attendance, punctuality, and seniority. If the Authority determines that general performance and other factors are essentially equal between two (2) or more employees to be affected by the layoff, seniority with the Authority shall determine which employee or employees will be retained.
- B. Probationary employees shall be laid off before any regular employees, except when laid off employees are not available to work in less than full-time positions.
- C. Non-probationary employees due to be laid off shall be given written notice of such lay off at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the effective date. A copy of the notice shall be provided to the Union.

- D. The names of regular employees laid off shall be place on the reemployment list within the department. Qualifications, seniority, and ability to perform the work shall be the determining factors for returning to work. The Authority will notify all laid off employees of all Authority job vacancies for one (1) year from the date of lay off.
- E. Employees who are reemployed within one (1) calendar year after they are laid off will be entitled to the reinstatement of accrued and unused sick leave which was not paid off at the time of their lay off.
- F. The Authority and the Union shall discuss alternative to any lay off, including reduced work week, leave of absence, voluntary lay off, and/or other issues which may minimize mandatory layoffs. The term "discuss" shall not require the Authority to negotiate alternative to lay off with the Union.

#### PROBATIONARY PERIOD

New-hire probationary employees are at-will employees who may be discharged at any time without application of or recourse to any provisions of this Agreement or any of the provisions of the Personnel Policies. The Authority shall have no responsibility to prove just cause in the case of actions taken against new-hire probationary employees. The length of the new-hire probationary period shall be twelve (12) months. Such period for employees may be extended up to six (6) additional months.

#### ARTICLE 28

#### PERSONNEL FILE

- A. Each employee shall have the right, upon written request to review the material in his/her own personnel file, wherever a file is maintained, during non-duty hours.
- B. A representative chosen by the employee may, at the employee's request, accompany the employee in this review.
- C. All material in the file must be dated and signed by the source of the material. No anonymous letters or material shall be placed in this file. The employee will be provided with a copy of items placed in his/her personnel file. Any material will be initialed by the employee before placing in the file. If the employee refuses, the Authority will notify the employee and the Union that the material will be placed in the employee's file. Within thirty (30) days, the employee has a right to attach a written response to any item placed in his/her file. Employees working day shift can make arrangements with the Director to view their files at reasonable hours before or after their regularly scheduled shift.
- D. An employee will, on written request to the Authority, receive copies of all materials in his/her personnel file limited to once per year.
- E. Commendations shall be placed into the personnel file and a copy presented to the employee.

F. An employee who has received a written reprimand or had written documentation of verbal reprimand placed in his/her file may make a written request to the Operations Board of the Authority to have the documentation placed in a sealed envelope within his/her personnel file. The Operations Board will seal such documentation when it finds that there have been no other disciplinary actions against the employee during the two (2) year period. The sealed material may be opened by the Authority and/or Union during alternative dispute resolution, and may be offered as evidence only in the event of litigation involving the Authority.

#### **ARTICLE 29**

#### **EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE**

- A. The Authority, subject to availability of budgeted funds, may provide educational assistance for tuition and/or fees for those courses deemed to be job-related. Books and supplies that are job related will be subject to reimbursement with proof of purchase.
  - 1. The following criteria must be met before consideration by the Director:
- a. Employee must be a fulltime status and have completed one (1) year of continuous service.
- b. The course(s) must be offered by an accredited institution or adult education course offered by a state, county, or city-sponsored program.
- c. The course must be job-related or be part of a degree program that is job-related. Courses may be relevant to improve job skills at CDAA.
- B. An employee must submit the "Request for Reimbursement" form prior to enrollment to the Director or designee. Approval is subject to schedule commitments and jobrelatedness.
- C. An employee will be entitled to reimbursement based on evidence of course completion in accordance with the following criteria:
  - 1. Completion with an "A: Grade = 100% of tuition and/or fees
  - 2. Competition with a "B" Grade = 80% of tuition and/or fees
  - 3. Completion with a "C" Grade or less = 50% of tuition and/or fees
  - 4. Completion with a "D" Grade or less = no reimbursement
  - 5. Completion with a "Pass" rating 50% of tuition and/or fees
- D. The Authority and Union agree to establish a Training Committee, with the goal of identifying job-related training opportunities for employees. The Training Committee shall be comprised of the Director and two (2) Dispatch employees and shall meet on a quarterly basis.

#### SCOPE OF AGREEMENT AND SAVINGS CLAUSE

- A. This Agreement is the entire agreement of the parties, other than those portions of public employment agreements that are expressly provided for or excluded by State statute, and terminates all prior arrangements and practices and concludes all negotiations, except as provided in paragraph B below, during the term of this Agreement.
- B. This Agreement is declared to be severable and if any paragraph, phrase, sentence, or part is declared to be void by a court of competent jurisdiction, it shall not be construed to void or nullify the entire Agreement; and those parts not declared void shall be binding upon the parties provided, however upon such invalidation, the parties agree immediately to meet and negotiate such parts or provisions affected.

#### **ARTICLE 31**

### LOCAL GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS ACT

- A. The parties reserve all rights set forth in the Local Government Employee-Management Relations Act (the "Act") (NRS 288.010 *et seq.*)
- B. The parties acknowledge that in respect to any non-mandatory subject of bargaining as defined in the Act which may be included in this Agreement, the Authority is not waiving or in any way limiting its right pursuant to the Act to refuse to bargain over non-mandatory subjects in future negotiations.

#### **DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

This Agreement shall be effective as of the 1st day of July 2021 and shall remain in full force and effect until June 30, 2024

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and the Union have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their authorized representatives on the dates set forth below.

Central Dispatch Administrative	International Union of Operating
Authority	Engineers, Local 3, AFL-CIO
Curtis Calder Date	Dan Reding, Business Manager Date
Chairman of the Executive Board	Board
APTEST: 6/30/2021	Bruce Noel, RecCorres. Secty Date    Page
Donna Holladay Date	Phillip Herring, Sr. Business Rep. Date
	Angela Moore, Committee Member. Date
	Christina Simms, Committee Member. Date
	Dawn Bradshaw, Committee Member. Date

# Central Dispatch Administrative Authority Disciplinary Action Form

Date:	To:			
		Employee Name		
Reason(s) for Action	on:			
You have/have not (circle above)	t received counseling	ng on this matter on:	Date(s)	
This is a new a	ction			
☐ This is a contir	nuing action			
You have been advany disciplinary a	vised that you hav ction may take pla	ve the right to union/associati ace.	ion representation and/or	legal counsel before
Employee's Initials			Supervisor's	<u>Initia</u> ls
This notice constit personnel file for a	utes written docu a period of 12 moi	mentation of a disciplinary anths; it shall not be considere	action against you and sha ed a written reprimand.	all be placed in your
Your behavior following reason		vith Central Dispatch Adminis	strative Authority practices	and/or policies for the
Your job perfo	rmance is unsatisfa	actory for the following reason	15:	
THE FOLLOWIN (Indicate specific pachieved.)	NG IMPROVEMI rogram for improv	ENTS ARE REQUIRED WI' rement, measurement criteria,	THIN DAYS: and consequences if impro	vement is not
RECEIPT ACKN	OWLEDGED:			
Employee Signatur	e	Employee Representative	e Signature Supervis	sor Signature

\*\*REMOVAL DATE – 12 MONTHS FROM DATE OF ISSUANCE\*\*

#### Exhibit A

# Central Dispatch Administrative Authority/Local 3 Compensation Table effective July 1, 2021

Class	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Dispatcher I	3730.07	3877.42	3974.34	4073.89	4174.76	4279.12
Dispatcher II	4234.39	4343.35	4448.23	4561.07	4672.56	4789.37
Lead Dispatcher	4657.83	4777.68	4893.05	5017.16	5139.81	5268.32

PERS deduction for 2021 will be .0025 %

\*1.45% increase to wages, assuming no PERS adjustment. If the PERS contribution rate increases or decreases, wages shall be adjusted as required pursuant to NRS 286.421.3.

Note #1: Employees shall typically be hired at Step 1 and after satisfactory completion of probation (12 months, unless extended) be increased to Step 2. Employees will be increased to Step 3 after completing 24 months of employment, unless an unsatisfactory performance evaluation has been issued by the Dispatch Director. Thereafter, employee's rates will be increased annually to successive steps (36 months and 48 months, and 60 months), unless an unsatisfactory performance evaluation has been issued by the Dispatch Director. The total time to advance from Step 1 to Step 6 shall typically be 5 years. In accordance with Article 10, the Authority reserves the right to appoint employees to a step that is consistent with existing salaries and responsibilities.

Note #2: Employees who advance to the Dispatcher II classification shall be placed at the step which is equal to the employee's present salary or the next higher step in the new grade.

Note #3: Employees who advance to the Lead Dispatcher classification shall be placed at the step which is at least 10% higher than the employee's present salary or the next higher step in the new grade.

#### Exhibit B

# Central Dispatch Administrative Authority/Local 3 Compensation Table effective July 1, 2022

Class	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Dispatcher I	3841.97	3993.37	4093.32	4196.11	4300.00	4407.49
Dispatcher II	4361.42	4473.65	4581.68	4697.90	4812.74	4933.05
Lead Dispatcher	4797.56	4921.01	5039.84	5167.67	5294.00	5426.37

Note #1: Employees shall typically be hired at Step 1 and after satisfactory completion of probation (12 months, unless extended) be increased to Step 2. Employees will be increased to Step 3 after completing 24 months of employment, unless an unsatisfactory performance evaluation has been issued by the Dispatch Director. Thereafter, employee's rates will be increased annually to successive steps (36 months and 48 months, and 60 months), unless an unsatisfactory performance evaluation has been issued by the Dispatch Director. The total time to advance from Step 1 to Step 6 shall typically be 5 years. In accordance with Article 10, the Authority reserves the right to appoint employees to a step that is consistent with existing salaries and responsibilities.

Note #2: Employees who advance to the Dispatcher II classification shall be placed at the step which is equal to the employee's present salary or the next higher step in the new grade.

Note #3: Employees who advance to the Lead Dispatcher classification shall be placed at the step which is at least 10% higher than the employee's present salary or the next higher step in the new grade.

#### Exhibit C

#### Central Dispatch Administrative Authority/Local 3 Compensation Table effective July 1, 2023

Class	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Dispatcher I	3957.23	4113.17	4216.12	4321.99	4429.00	4539.71
Dispatcher II	4492.26	4607.86	4719.13	4838.84	4957.12	5081.04
Lead Dispatcher	4941.49	5068.64	5191.04	5322.70	5452.82	5589.16

\*3.0 % increase to wages, assuming no PERS adjustment. If the PERS contribution rate increases or decreases, wages shall be adjusted as required pursuant to NRS 286.421.3.

Note #1: Employees shall typically be hired at Step 1 and after satisfactory completion of probation (12 months, unless extended) be increased to Step 2. Employees will be increased to Step 3 after completing 24 months of employment, unless an unsatisfactory performance evaluation has been issued by the Dispatch Director. Thereafter, employee's rates will be increased annually to successive steps (36 months and 48 months, and 60 months), unless an unsatisfactory performance evaluation has been issued by the Dispatch Director. The total time to advance from Step 1 to Step 6 shall typically be 5 years. In accordance with Article 10, the Authority reserves the right to appoint employees to a step that is consistent with existing salaries and responsibilities.

Note #2: Employees who advance to the Dispatcher II classification shall be placed at the step which is equal to the employee's present salary or the next higher step in the new grade.

Note #3: Employees who advance to the Lead Dispatcher classification shall be placed at the step which is at least 10% higher than the employee's present salary or the next higher step in the new grade.